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Before the
Federal Communications Commission
Washington, DC 20554

In the matter of
Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair,
Rachelle Lee
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v.
AT&T Corp.
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)
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)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Proceeding Number ______
File No. EB-___________ -

FORMAL COMPLAINT OF JOANNE ELKINS, HATTIE LANFAIR
AND RACHELLE LEE

1.

Pursuant to Sections 201, 202 and 208 of the Communications Act,

Section 706 of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, and Sections 1.720 et seq. of the
Commission’s rules, Complainants Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair, and Rochelle Lee bring
this formal complaint against AT&T Corporation alleging: 1) unjust and unreasonable
discrimination in the provision of broadband internet access service; 2) misrepresentation
of its intent to serve all residents in Cleveland, Ohio. 47 U.S.C. §§ 201, 202, 208, 1302;
47 C.F.R. §1.720 et seq. Complainant further requests the Commission to initiate an
investigation pursuant to Section 403. 47 U.S.C. §403.
SUMMARY
2.

This complaint, brought by Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair,and Rachelle Lee, three

African-American, low-income residents of Cleveland, OH alleges that AT&T’s offerings of

1

high speed broadband service violates the Communications Act’s prohibition against unjust and
unreasonable discrimination.
3.

The complaint alleges specific harms inflicted on the complainants.

4.

The complaint, relying on a study conducted by the National Digital Inclusion

Alliance and Connect Your Community, titled, AT&T’s Digital Redlining, demonstrates that the
failure to provide high speed broadband services to them is part of a pattern by AT&T across
Cleveland and across the United States.
5.

The study offers clear evidence that AT&T has withheld fiber-enhanced its “Fiber

To the Node” VDSL infrastructure (“FTTN”)– which is now the standard for most Cuyahoga
County suburbs and other urban AT&T markets—from most of the overwhelming majority of
census blocks with individual poverty rates above 35%. These high poverty blocks include
Cleveland neighborhoods such as Hough, Glenville, Central, Fairfax, South Collinwood, St.
Clair-Superior, Detroit-Shoreway, Stockyards and other low-income communities.
6.

Such low-income neighborhoods have been relegated to an older, slower

transmission technology called ADSL2, resulting in significantly slower Internet access speeds
than what AT&T provides to middle-income city neighborhoods as well as most suburbs. As a
result, their residents are left with severely limited and uneven Internet access; no access to
AT&T’s competitive fiber-enabled video service.
7.

As such, complainants request that the Commission: (a) find that Defendant

AT&T has violated Section 202, 254 and 706 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 202, 254, 1302, by failing
to serve the low-income, communities of color in Cleveland, Ohio, and consequently, issue
preliminary and permanent injunctions prohibiting AT&T from engaging in the discriminatory
and anticompetitive conduct and practices alleged herein; and (b) find that AT&T has violated
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Sections 202, 254 and 706 of the Act, codified at 47 C.F.R. §1302, 47 U.S.C.§§ 202, 254 and
1302, by failing to deploy broadly,

and thereby direct specific performance of AT&T’s

obligations, including but not limited to an obligation upon AT&T to provide broadband services
to the lower income minority communities in Cleveland, Ohio.
8.

Complainants request the Commission move immediately to designate process for

discovery.
9.

Complainants seek a hearing on the amount of damages in a separate proceeding

per a supplemental complaint per Commission Rule 1.722. 47 C.F.R. § 1.722. Dam
PARTIES AND COUNSEL
10.

Complainants Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair, and Rochelle Lee, three African-

American, low-income, residents of Cleveland, Ohio.
11.

Complainants are represented by Attorney Daryl D. Parks. Parks & Crump, LLC.

240 N. Magnolia Dr., Tallahassee, Florida.
12.

Defendant AT&T is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business in

208 S. Akard Street, Dallas, Texas 75202. AT&T is operating as a common carrier, and
specifically as a telecommunications, video programming service and a broadband service, that
is subject to the Act.
13.

Defendant is represented by Attorney James Meza III, Senior Vice President and

Assistant General Counsel, AT&T 2260 East Imperial Highway, El Segundo, CA 90245.
JURISDICTION
14.

As detailed in the legal analysis section below, the Commission has jurisdiction

pursuant to Sections 201, 202 and 208 of the Communications Act, Section 706 of the 1996

3

Telecommunications Act, and Sections 1.720 et seq. of the Commission’s rules. 47 U.S.C. §§
201, 202, 208, 1302; 47 C.F.R. §1.720 et seq. AT&T is a common carrier, 47 U.S.C. § 153,
subject to Title II of the Act, including Sections 202 and 706.
15.

The Commission has authority to initiate an investigation pursuant to Section 403

of the Communications Act. 47 U.S.C. §403.
16.

The Commission possesses additional authority pursuant to Sections 151 and 254

of the Communications Act, 47 USC § 151, 254, and the Commission’s rules including 47
C.F.R. §§ 1.1, 4(i), 1.17, 1.24, 1.52.
REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS
17.

Settlement Discussions. Counsel for complainants and Defendant have engaged

in significant discussions in writing and one in-person meeting.

Defendant does not

acknowledge its obligation to serve Complainants; therefore parties are sufficiently far apart that
we seek Commission intervention in this dispute. Pursuant to the Commission’s rules (47 C.F.R.
§ 1.721(a)(8)), Complainant hereby certifies that it has attempted in good faith to discuss the
possibility of settlement with AT&T prior to filing this Formal Complaint. See Letter from Daryl
D. Parks to AT& (dated April 24, 2017). (see attached)
At various points in time, Complainant and AT&T have discussed settlement but at
present, the parties remain far apart. Counsel for AT&T expresses an unwillingness to engage in
mediation. AT&T Provided a Letter Reply to Daryl Park’s April 24, 2017-dated later (dated Aril
28, 2017) and a second letter (dated May 5, 2017). To which, Daryl Parks replied with his a letter
dated May 23, 207 and to which AT&T replied on June 12, 2017. (see attached)

4

The parties actually met in person during a July 21, 2017 meeting with AT&T attended
by Daryl D. Parks, Cheryl Leanza consultant and staff support and Montana Williams, a summer
Associate and staff support. AT&T representatives attending this meeting included Robert
Quinn, SEVP, External & Legislative Affairs; Len Cali, SVP, Global Public Policy; Claudia
Jones, SVP, Public Affairs & Communications; David Lawson, SVP, Assistant General Counsel
and Tanya Lombard, AVP, Public Affairs and Communications. The meeting ended with a flat
denial by AT&T that it is redlining. Mr. Parks replied to this meeting with a letter to Chairman
and CEO Randall Stephenson; Senior Vice President and Secretary Stacey Marris; Senior Vice
President and assistant General Counsel James Meza III and Senior Vice President, External and
Legislative Affairs, Robert Quinn expressing his disappointment with the tenor of members at
the meeting, in light of commitments the company has made in the past to broadly serve.(dated
July 24, 2017) see attached.
AT&T did agree to offer to deploy a 5G pilot but that is not sufficient but is basic. The
company has noted and has advocated for before, it wants the flexibility and freedom to offer
different tiers of service to different customers, and the NDIA report shows it is doing just that.
Therefore, Complainant is not satisfied with the concession of expanding the 5G pilot alone.
Pursuant to the Commission’s rules regarding separate actions (47 C.F.R. § 1.721(a)(9)),
Complainant states that no party has filed any separate actions in any fact finding or decision
making body.
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18.

Payment of Fee and Registration Number. Complainants paid the required

$230.00 fee on August 22, 2017 and obtained the Commission-required FRN as follows: FRN #
0026738203
FACTS
I.
19.

Introduction

This complaint brings to the Commission the needs of low-income individuals

who require, as most people in the United States do today, reasonable access to affordable
broadband services. Digital or electronic redlining is the failure to provide service, or providing
inferior service, to a community—typically to a community of color or a low-income community
in an urban area.1 Such discrimination is most likely when communities do not benefit from
competition and when they lack political power to advocate for their own rights as consumers.
II.
20.

Complainants

Complainants Joanne Elkins of 1423 East 85th Street, Cleveland, Ohio, 44106;

Hattie Lanfair of 12721 Iroquois Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio and Rochelle Lee of 2270 73rd St,
Cleveland, Ohio 44103; are low-income residents in the AT&T Cleveland service area with
combined first-hand experience as AT&T customers of over 40 years. They assert that they have
an interest to acquire high speed broadband and as customers of AT&T have paid for broadband
access but get speeds that are too slow to accommodate the most basic of functionalities on their
home, mobile, desktop devices.

Ms. Elkins explained having purchased a $1500 security

equipment to protect her home and provide her security as a low vision visually impaired
individual, only to discover the security system was rendered useless because of the slow
1

Leonard M. Baynes, Deregulatory Injustice and Electronic Redlining: The Color of Access to elecommunications,
56 Admin. L. Rev. 263, 269-270 (2004); James J. Halpert & Angela J. Campbell, Electronic Redlining:
Discrimination on the Information Superhighway, cited in New Challenges: The Civil Rights Record of the Clinton
Administration Mid-Term, 278-279 (Corrine M. Yu & William L. Taylor eds., 1995).
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broadband speeds from her AT&T Broadband service, making the home security system
ineffectual. Ms. Lanfair has attempted to get an upgrade of her services but as told none is
available. Her daughter is a teacher and cannot stay over her home during the school year
because she cannot download homework. Ms. Lee complained that her grandchildren that visit
her home are unable to stream videos or play games on their devices because of the painfully
slow services. It is their belief that they and the residents and children of their community are
deprived because they are stuck with horribly slow broadband service while still paying monthly
fees for access. To them, AT&T has given them inequity of service, compared to the service
they’ve learned residents in wealthier parts of the city who receive broadband service and bullet
speed comparatively.
III.
21.

Evidence of AT&T Redlining in Cleveland

A recent detailed study, AT&T’s Digital Redlining, by two non-profit groups with

extensive experience in digital inclusion -- Connect Your Communities and National Digital
Inclusion Alliance demonstrates that the experience of Complainants Elkins, Lanfair and Lee are
not unique or individualized.
22.

The study, based on AT&T’s own data submitted to the Commission via Form

477 offers clear evidence that AT&T has withheld the standard product offering for most
suburbs--fiber-enhanced its “Fiber To the Node” VDSL infrastructure (“FTTN”)– from most the
overwhelming majority of census blocks with individual poverty rates above 35%.

As a

consequence, residents of these neighborhoods: suffer uneven, often severely limited Internet
access , in many cases 3 mbps downstream or less, and also lack access to AT&T’s competitive
fiber-enabled video service and the benefits such competition and service would bring.
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23.

The study analyzes Form 477 data, which lists 13,457 Census blocks in Cuyahoga

County served by AT&T with ADSL2, VDSL, or FTTH service. Of the 5,567 blocks located in
the city of Cleveland, in only 34% (1,904) is the Maximum Advertised Download Speeds
provided by VDSL or FTTH. Of the 7,890 blocks in the rest of the county, the FTTH/VDSL
percentage is 61%.
24.

Twenty-two percent of Cleveland Census blocks were reported by AT&T to have

maximum residential download speeds of 3 Mbps or less. Fifty-five percent had maximum
download speeds no greater than 6 Mbps. The comparable percentages for the rest of Cuyahoga
County were 12% and 24%, respectively.
25.

The analysis shows a clear and troubling pattern: A pattern of long-term,

systematic failure to invest in the infrastructure required to provide equitable, mainstream
Internet access to residents of the central city (compared to the suburbs) and to lower-income
city neighborhoods. Specifically, AT&T has chosen not to extend its “FTTN” VDSL
infrastructure – which is now the standard for most Cuyahoga County suburbs and other urban
AT&T markets throughout the U.S. – to the majority of Cleveland Census blocks, including the
overwhelming majority of blocks with individual poverty rates above 35%.
26.

The study’s results provide clear evidence that AT&T has withheld fiber-

enhanced broadband improvements from most Cleveland neighborhoods with high poverty rates
– including Hough, Glenville, Central, Fairfax, South Collinwood, St. Clair-Superior, DetroitShoreway, Stockyards and others.
27.

AT&T has chosen not to extend its “FTTN” VDSL infrastructure – which is now

the standard for most Cuyahoga County suburbs and other urban AT&T markets throughout the
U.S. – to the majority of Cleveland Census blocks, including the overwhelming majority of
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blocks with individual poverty rates above 35%. These neighborhoods have been relegated to an
older, slower transmission technology called ADSL2, resulting in significantly slower Internet
access speeds than AT&T provides to middle-income city neighborhoods as well as most
suburbs.
28.

As a result, their residents are left with: 1) uneven, often severely limited Internet

access – in many cases 3 mbps downstream or less; and 2) no access to the competitive fiberenabled video service that AT&T promised communities in exchange for “cable franchise
reform”, i.e. the elimination of municipal cable franchising, in Ohio in 2007.
29.

Because the patterns revealed by this analysis result from a decade of deliberate

infrastructure investment decisions, this analysis demonstrates evidence of a policy and practice
of “digital redlining” by AT&T.
IV.
30.

Redlining is Widespread in the United States and Not Unique to Cleveland
Several recent independent studies demonstrate that redlining against low-income

communities continues to be a serious problem. Two detailed analyses of Commission data by
the prestigious and independent Center for Public Integrity demonstrate that the challenges in
Cleveland are not isolated cases. The Center found that, “the largest noncable internet providers
collectively offer faster speeds to about 40 percent of the population they serve nationwide in
wealthy areas compared with just 22 percent of the population in poor areas.” 2 In a nationwide
analysis, the Center found “85% of people in places where the majority of households make
$80,694 or more can purchase internet access with 10Mbps or faster download speeds from

2

Allan Holmes and Ben Wieder, Center for Public Integrity, “DSL providers save faster internet for wealthier
communities” (Oct. 14, 2016) https://www.publicintegrity.org/2016/10/14/20341/dsl-providers-save-faster-internetwealthier-communities
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AT&T, in areas it serves, whereas 69% of people living in places where the majority of
households make less than $34,783” can do the same.3
31.

While carriers justify these disparities based on ostensibly logical differences,

such as the density of a population, which impacts the cost of broadband deployment, the Center
found “even controlling for population density, the rural poor are still in excess of one-and-a-half
times as likely to lack high-speed broadband as rural wealthy families” and “in urban areas
where 94 percent of households have access, low-income families are three times as likely to
lack access as the wealthiest urban families.” 4
32.

Further, in a report issued this December, a detailed analysis of national

broadband adoption data concluded, that many non-white racial and ethnic groups continue to
lag behind Whites in home-internet adoption even after accounting for differences in income,
age, education, and other factors. The report concluded, “racial discrimination contributes to the
digital divide.”5 A study of AT&T’s deployment in California drew similar conclusions, highspeed fiber services are deployed disproportionately to the highest-income neighborhoods.6
LEGAL ANALYSIS
I.

No Unjust or Unreasonable Discrimination or Practices.

3

Id.
Allan Holmes, et al., Center for Public Integrity, “Rich people have access to high-speed Internet; many poor
people still don't,” (May 12, 2016) https://www.publicintegrity.org/2016/05/12/19659/rich-people-have-access-highspeed-internet-many-poor-people-still-dont.
4

5

S. Derek Turner, Digital Denied (Free Press: December 13, 2016),
https://www.freepress.net/sites/default/files/resources/digital_denied_free_press_report_december_2016.pdf
6
Garret Strain et al., Haas Institute, AT&T’s Digital Divide in California, Policy Brief 2017,
http://haasinstitute.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/haas_broadband_042417-singles.pdf

10

33.

Federal communications policy is replete with prohibitions and policies against

discriminatory deployment and offerings of communications service.7

The Commission is

charged with “regulating interstate and foreign commerce in communication by wire and radio
so as to make available, so far as possible, to all the people of the United States, without
discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex, a rapid, efficient,
Nation-wide, and world-wide wire and radio communication service....” 47 U.S.C. § 151
(emphasis added).
34.

Section 202 of the Communications Act provides:

It shall be unlawful for any common carrier to make any unjust or unreasonable
discrimination in charges, practices, classifications, regulations, facilities, or services for or
in connection with like communication service, directly or indirectly, by any means or
device, or to make or give any undue or unreasonable preference or advantage to any
particular person, class of persons, or locality, or to subject any particular person, class of
persons, or locality to any undue or unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage.
47 U.S.C. § 202 (emphasis added).
35.

Section 201(b) of the Act states, in pertinent part, that “[a]ll charges, practices,

classifications, and regulations for and in connection with [interstate or foreign] communication
service [by wire or radio], shall be just and reasonable, and any such charge, practice,
classification, or regulation that is unjust or unreasonable is declared to be unlawful.” 47 U.S.C.
§ 201(b). The Commission has held that unfair and deceptive marketing practices by interstate
common carriers, including misrepresentations about a carrier’s service constitute unjust and
unreasonable practices under Section 201(b) of the Act.8
II.

Broadband Access Internet Services Legal Treatment

7

For example, the 1992 Cable Act requires local franchising authorities to “assure that access to cable service is not
denied to any group of potential residential cable subscribers because of the income of the residents of the local area
in which such group resides.” 47 U.S.C. § 541(3). See also 47 U.S.C. § 254.
8
See, e.g, In the Matter of Advantage Telecommunications Corp., File No.: EB-TCD-12-00004803, NAL/Acct. No.:
201332170013, FRN: 0005077730 at paras (rel. April 25, 2017)
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36.

Broadband Access Internet Services (BIAS), including the DSL services subject

to this compliant, are subject to Section 202. Protecting and Promoting the Open Internet, GN
Docket 14-28, 30 FCC Rcd 5601 at paras. 331, 337 (2015). The Commission has interstate
authority over broadband services because the Commission has declared it “broadband Internet
access service is jurisdictionally interstate for regulatory purposes.” Open Internet Order, 30
FCC Rcd at 5803, para. 431. The Commission retained jurisdiction over BIAS in its Open
Internet Order specifically because it anticipated that enforcement proceedings under Section
208 would be necessary to protect consumers. Id. at para 434 (citing the importance of network
deployment).
III.

Obligations to Deal Honestly with the Commission
37.

Parties before the Commission are required to make truthful and accurate

statements in its proceedings. 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (criminal perjury before federal agencies); 47
C.F.R. § 1.17 (investigatory or adjudicatory matters); 47 C.F.R. § 1.24 (ethical conduct of
counsel); 47 C.F.R. § 1.52 (requiring filings to be signed and with good grounds).
IV.

Standard for Determining Discrimination Under Section 202
38.

Under Section 202, “[c]ourts have fashioned a three-step analysis to determine

whether a carrier has violated this section. The first inquiry is whether the services are ‘like’; if
they are, the next inquiry is whether there is a price difference between them; and if so, the third
inquiry is whether the difference is reasonable.” Nat'l Communications Ass'n, Inc. v. AT&T
Corp., 238 F.3d 124, 127 (2d Cir. 2001). The burden is on the complainant to establish the first
two elements. If the complainant makes this showing, the burden shifts to the carrier to justify
the price disparity as reasonable. Nat'l Communications Ass'n, 238 F.3d at 129-133.
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39.

It is clear that service quality and price are inextricably linked – unjust offerings

under Section 202 can be successfully brought if either the price or the product unjustly or
unreasonably discriminates. AT&T v. Central Office Tel., 524 US 214, 234 118 S Ct 1956
(1998). Moreover, refusing to offer a service to one customer that is offered to another customer
is also a violation of Section 202. See, e.g., In re American Trucking Asso., Inc. 41 FCC2d 2
(1973).
40.

Under the three-part test, the Commission follows a “functional equivalency” test

to determine which products are “like,” which the Commission describes as follows:
This test looks to whether there are any material functional differences between the
services. An important aspect of the test, as it has evolved, involves reliance upon
customer perception to help determine whether the services being compared provide the
same or equivalent functions. The test asks whether the services at issue are ‘different in
any material respect’ and requires the Commission to examine both the nature of the
services and the customer perception of the functional equivalency of the services. The
test presumes that not all differences between the services make them a priori unlike.
Rather, the differences must be functionally material or, put another way, of practical
significance to customers.
In the Matter of Cellexis International, 16 FCC Rcd 22887, 22892 (2001).
41.

The Commission has affirmed that services subject not to tariffing, but only to the

nondiscrimination obligations of Section 202, must not refuse to serve people because of their
race or income. In a case dealing with mobile CMRS carriers, which were not subject to specific
tariffing obligations but were subject to Section 202 nondiscrimination obligations, the
Commission stated clearly, and was affirmed by the D.C. Circuit, that a provider may not “refuse
‘to deal with any segment of the public whose business is the ‘type normally accepted.’ … [And]
[t]hey cannot decline “to serve any particular demographic group (e.g. customers who are of a
certain race or income bracket).” Orloff v. FCC, 352 F.3d 415, 420 (DC Cir. 2003) (citing Orloff
v. Vodafone, 17 FCC Rcd 8987 at 8997 (2002)). The Commission specifically noted the danger
13

of discrimination in a less-than-competitive market such as the one in this complaint. “If a
CMRS market were inadequately competitive, or if some other market failure limited consumers'
abilities to use market forces to protect themselves, Section 202 could be implicated.” Id. at
8997-8998. In a similar proceeding, the Commission found, “Assuming all relevant product and
geographic markets become substantially competitive, … carriers may still be able to treat some
customers in an unjust, unreasonable, or discriminatory manner. Competitive markets increase
the number of service options available to consumers, but they do not necessarily protect all
consumers from all unfair practices. The market may fail to deter providers from unreasonably
denying service to, or discriminating against, customers whom they may view as less desirable.”
PCIA Forbearance Order, 13 FCC Rcd at 16868, para. 23 (1998).
V.

Complainants Demonstrate an Unreasonable Difference in Service
42.

The instant complaint meets the complainants’ burden under the three-part test.

In the case of the complainants here, AT&T offers a product that is inferior to consumers living
directly adjacent to consumers that receive a high-quality service. Consumers view ADSL and
VDSL2 as services which meet the same needs. Both are broadband services used to reach the
Internet, stream video, and other similar needs. One product is of much lower quality than
another. The only meaningful difference between these consumers is their residence in an area
in the urban core of Cleveland, consisting of significantly more low-income families and people
of color.
43.

The difference in price between the services offered by AT&T is not relevant here

because the complainants do not seek lower quality services at lower prices, they seek a higher
quality service. While complainants are paying significant, potentially unjust sums, for low-
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quality service, the core concern here is the complainants inability to obtain speeds and quality
sufficient to meet their needs.
44.

The loss of competition harms the complainants, because deployment of fiber

based technology has a “positive effect on broadband competition.” In the Matter of Applications
of AT&T and DirecTV, 30 FCC Rcd. 9131, para. 345 & n.1040 (2015) (study showed “cable
market share declines by approximately 40 percent when facing competition from FTTP instead
of DSL.”) The loss of competition to some consumers means those consumers do not benefit
from lower prices and higher quality.
45.

AT&T has been found to violate section 202 before, and is not immune from

section 202 merely because its discrimination is based on investment decisions.

In Nat'l

Communications Ass'n, Inc. v. AT&T Corp., the Second Circuit affirmed a 202 violation, in part,
because AT&T had given far fewer resources to a department that serviced one set of customers
than the department that served AT&T’s own customers. Nat'l Communications Ass'n, Inc. v.
AT&T Corp., 238 F.3d 124, 126 (2d Cir. 2001).
VI.

The Commission Must Act Regardless of BIAS Title II Classification
46.

The Commission has recently questioned whether broadband services should be

subject to Title II of the Act. Restoring Internet Freedom, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking,
Docket 17-108 (rel. May 23, 2017). While this complaint is ample evidence for the reasons why
the Commission should retain its Title II over broadband, nonetheless the Commission possess
authority no matter its future decision in that proceeding.
47.

Moreover, even if the Commission were to revise its regulatory treatment of

broadband service, this complaint should not be dismissed based on a future regulatory decision.
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48.

National policy supports “deployment on a reasonable and timely basis of

advanced telecommunications capability to all Americans” and “access to advanced
telecommunications and information services … in all regions of the Nation.” 47 U.S.C. §
1302(a), 254(b)(2).
49.

Section 706(a) of the 1996 Telecommunications Act directs the Commission to

utilize its arsenal of tools to promote broadband deployment, including, “measures that promote
competition in the local telecommunications market.” 47 U.S.C. § 1302(a).
50.

The Commission is directed in Section 706 to “take immediate action to

accelerate deployment of [advanced telecommunications] capability by removing barriers to
infrastructure investment and by promoting competition in the telecommunications market.” 47
U.S.C. § 1302(b).
51.

The Commission has authority here because the courts have affirmed the

Commission’s conclusion that Section 706 contains an operative grant of authority. Verizon v.
FCC, 740 F.3d 623, slip. Op 20-22 (D.C. Cir. 2014); see also United States Telecom Ass'n v.
FCC, 825 F.3d 674 (D.C. Cir. 2016).9
52.

The Commission is authorized under Section 706 because complainants do not

seek in this case sweeping common carrier regulation, but rather a finding that advanced
telecommunications capabilities have not been deployed to low income neighborhoods in
Cleveland, OH in contravention of Section 706.
53.

Section 706 is therefore directly applicable to the deployment of advanced

services to all Americans, and thus grants direct authority for the Commission to act.
VII.

The Commission Should Initiate an Investigation Pursuant to Section 403.

9

Comcast v. FCC, 600 F.3d 642 (D.C. Cir. 2010), is not relevant here because the Commission has now revisited its
previous position which concluded that Section 706 was not a grant of authority.
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54.

Under Section 403, the Commission has sweeping authority to “institute an

inquiry” pursuant to an authorized complaint relating to the enforcement of Commission rules.
47 U.S.C. § 403.
RELIEF REQUESTED
55.

Complainants request that the Commission: (a) find that Defendant AT&T has

violated Section 202, 254 and 706 of the Act, 47 U.S.C. § 202, 254, 1302, by failing to serve the
low-income, communities of color in Cleveland, Ohio, and as such, issue preliminary and
permanent injunctions prohibiting

AT&T from engaging in the discriminatory and

anticompetitive conduct and practices alleged herein, and (b) find that AT&T has violated
Sections 202, 254 and 706 of the Act, codified at 47 C.F.R. §1302, 47 U.S.C.§§ 202, 254 and
1302, by failing to deploy broadly, and thereby direct specific performance of AT&T’s
obligations, including but not limited to AT&T’s obligation to provide broadband services to the
lower income minority communities in Cleveland, Ohio.
56.

Complainants seek a hearing on the amount of damages in a separate proceeding

per a supplemental complaint per Commission Rule 1.722. 47 C.F.R. § 1.722.
57.

If the Commission is unwilling at this time to proceed through an adjudication, it

should refer the matter to the ALJ for a public hearing under 47 U.S.C. §403.
58.

Complainants request all other such relief as may be just and proper.
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Before the
Federal Communications Commission
Washington, DC 20554

In the matter of
Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair,
Rachelle Lee
Complainants,
v.
AT&T Corp.
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Proceeding Number ______
File No. EB-___________ -

INFORMATION DESIGNATION
Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair, and Rochelle Lee, hereby submit this information
designation in accordance with Sections 1.721(a)(10)(i), (ii), (iii), and 1.721(a)(11) of the
Federal Communications Commission’s (“Commission”) Rules, 47 C.F.R. §§ 1.721(a)(10)(i),
(ii), (iii) and 1.721(a)(11), and 1.724(f)(2), and 1.726(d)(2).
Individuals Believed to Have First-Hand Knowledge, Rule 1.721(a)(10)(i)
Pursuant to Section 1.721(a)(10)(i) of the Commission’s Rules, 47 C.F.R. §
1.721(a)(10)(i), set forth below are the names, addresses, and positions of the individuals who
have first-hand knowledge of facts alleged with particularity in this Formal Complaint, and a
description of the facts within any such individual’s knowledge.
Joanne Elkins of 1423 East 85th Street, Cleveland, Ohio, 44106; Hattie Lanfair of 12721
Iroquois Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio and Rochelle Lee of 2270 73rd St, Cleveland, Ohio 44103;
19

are residents in the AT&T Cleveland service area with combined first-hand experience as AT&T
customers of over 40 years.
For example, Elkins has less than 2mg speed and as a result, can attest to not being able
to download anything and having attempts to download and upload drop and stall out due to the
slow speed. Lanfair contacted attorney Daryl Parks after complaining directly to AT&T over a
year and seeing the NDIA report in the news. She has known him personally for over 20 years.
Her son and Mr. Parks attended Florida A&M together and therefore is confident he could get
results after her attempts to get them from AT&T failed. Ms. Lee’s home has less than 8 mg
speed and she can attest to the extreme slow lag in service.
Documents, Data Compilations, and Tangible Things, Rule 1.721(a)(10)(ii)
Pursuant to Section 1.721(a)(ii) of the Commission’s Rules, 47 C.F.R. § 1.721(a)(10)(ii),
and the Commission’s May 18, 2017 order granting AT&T’s request for a waiver in connection
with that provision, AT&T states that, in lieu of the requirements of stated in Rule
1.721(a)(1)(ii), AT&T is relying on the Exhibits submitted with its Formal Complaint. See
Documents Relied Upon pursuant to Rule 1.721(a)(11), infra.
Identification of Persons and Documents, Rule 1.721(a)(10)(iii)
Pursuant to Section 1.721(a)(10)(iii) of the Commission’s Rules, 47 C.F.R. §
1.721(a)(10)(iii), Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair and Rochelle Lee provides that this information
designation was prepared by their counsel Daryl Parks of Parks and Crump,

20

Before the
Federal Communications Commission
Washington, DC 20554

In the matter of
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Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair,
Rachelle Lee
Complainants,
v.
AT&T Corp.
Defendant.

Proceeding Number ______
File No. EB-___________ -

JOANNE ELKINS, HATTIE LANFAIR AND ROCHELLE LEE’s FIRST REQUEST
FOR INTERROGATORIES OF AT&T CORP

Pursuant to 47 C.F.R. § 1.729(a), Complainants Joanne Elkins, Hattie Lanfair and
Rochelle Lee (Residents) hereby submit to the Federal Communications Commission, and
concurrently serves on Defendant AT&T Corp (“ATT”), this First Request for Interrogatories
(“Interrogatories”). AT&T shall respond to these Interrogatories in the time provided by 47
C.F.R. § 1.729, in writing, under oath, and in accordance with the Commission’s rules and the
Instructions and Definitions set forth herein.
DEFINITIONS
1. All terms used herein shall be construed according to common understood definition of the
terms and not in complex or highly technical terms, though acronyms and other terms of art in
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the telecommunications industry shall have the meaning typically ascribed to them by the
industry.
2. “Any” means each, every, and all persons, places, or things to which the term refers.
3. “Communication” means any transfer of information, whether written, printed, electronic,
oral, pictorial, or otherwise transmitted by any means or manner whatsoever.
4. “Concerning” means relating to, involving, reflecting, identifying, stating, referring to,
evidencing, constituting, analyzing, underlying, commenting upon, mentioning, or connected
with, in any way, the subject matter of the request.
5. “Copy” means any reproduction, in whole or in part, of an original document and includes, but
is not limited to, non-identical copies made from copies.
6. “Describe” and “description” means to set forth fully, in detail, and unambiguously each and
every fact of which you have knowledge related to answering the interrogatory.
7. “Document” means any written, drawn, recorded, transcribed, filed, or graphic matter,
including scientific or researchers’ notebooks, raw data, calculations, information stored in
computers, computer programs, surveys, tests and their results, however produced or reproduced.
With respect to any document that is not exactly identical to another document for any reason,
including but not limited to marginal notations, deletions, or redrafts, or rewrites, separate
documents should be provided.
8. “Identify,” “identity,” or “identification,” when used in relation to “person” or “persons,”
means to state the full name and present or last known address of such person or persons and, if a
natural person, his or her present or last known job title, the name and address of his or her
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present or last known employer, and the nature of the relationship or association of such person
to you.
9. “Identify,” “identity,” or “identification,” when used in relation to “document” or
“documents,” means to state the date, subject matter, name(s) of person(s) that wrote, signed,
initialed, dictated, or otherwise participated in the creation of the same, the name(s) of the
addressee(s) (if any), and the name(s) and address(es) (if any) of each person or persons who
have possession, custody, or control of said document or documents.
10. “Identify” when used in relation to a “communication” means to identify the participants in
each communication and, if such communication is not contained in a document, the date, place,
and content of such communication.
11. “Including” means including but not limited to.
12. “Original” means the first archetypal document produced, that is, the document itself, not a
copy. 15. “Person” or “persons” means any natural person or persons, group of natural persons
acting as individuals, group of natural persons acting as a group (e.g., as a board of directors, a
committee, etc.), or any firm, corporate entity, partnership, association, joint venture, business,
enterprise, cooperative, municipality, commission, or governmental body or agency.
13. “Relevant Period” means 2006, to the present, unless otherwise specified.
14. “You,” “your,” or “AT&T” means AT&T Corp any of its parent, affiliated, or subsidiary
companies; and employees, officers, directors, agents, representatives, and all other persons or
entities acting or purporting to act on their behalf, including without limitation any outside
consultant or witness retained by them. In that regard, each and every interrogatory contained
herein is directed at you.
23

INSTRUCTIONS
When responding to the following interrogatories, please comply with the instructions below:
1. Each interrogatory is continuing in nature and requires supplemental responses as soon as
new, different, or further information is obtained that is related to answering the interrogatory.
2. Provide all information, including all documents, related to answering the interrogatory that
are in your possession, custody, or control, regardless of whether such documents are possessed
directly by you or by your employees, officers, directors, agents, representatives, or any other
person or entity acting or purporting to act on their behalf.
3. In any interrogatory, the present tense shall be read to include the past tense, and the past
tense shall be read to include the present tense.
4. In any interrogatory, the singular shall be read to include the plural, and the plural shall be
read to include the singular.
5. In any interrogatory, the use of the conjunctive shall be read to include the disjunctive, and the
use of the disjunctive shall be read to include the conjunctive.
6. Any document withheld from production on the grounds of a privilege is to be specifically
identified by author(s), addressee(s), length, and date, with a brief description of the subject
matter or nature of the document, and a statement of the privilege asserted.
7. Please begin the response to each request on a separate page.
8. Please restate each interrogatory before providing the response or objection.
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9. Please specify the interrogatory in response to which any document, narrative response, or
objection is provided. If a document, narrative response, or objection relates to more than one
request, please cross reference.
10. For each separate interrogatory, identify the person(s) under whose supervision the response
was prepared.
11. For any interrogatory consisting of separate subparts or portions, a complete response is
required to each subpart as if the subpart or portion were propounded separately.
12. Produce any documents in the form of legible, complete, and true copies of the original
documents as “original” is defined herein. To the extent that excel spreadsheets are produced,
they should be provided in native format.
13. Please provide all documents in their native format, together with all metadata.
14. If you assert that documents or information related to answering an interrogatory are
unavailable or have been discarded or destroyed, state when and explain in detail why any such
document or information was unavailable, discarded, or destroyed, and identify the person
directing the discarding or destruction. If a claim is made that the discarding or destruction
occurred pursuant to a discarding or destruction program, identify and produce the criteria,
policy, or procedures under which such program was undertaken.
15. If any interrogatory cannot be answered in full after reasonable inquiry, provide the response
to the extent available, state why the interrogatory cannot be answered in full, and provide any
information within your knowledge concerning the description, existence, availability, and
custody of any unanswered portions.
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INT REQUEST 1. Share the cost and demand forecast modeling used to determine which
neighborhoods in Cleveland OH received VDSL service and/or Fiber to the Home (FTTH).
EXPLAINATION
To the extent that AT&T has claimed that it has selected certain neighborhoods to serve based on
cost and demand, providing this information is essential for complainants to ascertain why their
homes were omitted.
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INT REQUEST 2. Provide all marketing of broadband services which targets African
American, Hispanic, Asian and other communities of color and low-income communities in
Cleveland and the state of Ohio.
EXPLANATION:
AT&T expressed to the Commission a commitment to serve all communities including those in
service areas with high concentration of people of color; and therefore it is important that
complainants learn how, if at all, others in their neighborhoods and communities became aware
of services and products offered by AT&T.

27

INT REQUEST 3. Provide how AT&T determines what the average data usage is for various
broadband functionality, such as email, streaming movies, internet browsing, music, and gaming.
EXPLANATION
AT&T asserts that it must manage its network efficiently and therefore, it must have established
a benchmark or certain standards to determine the amount of usage expended by the average
users, high bandwidth users and less active users. Complainants seek access to certain services
and must know this information in order to ascertain whether they were properly assessed or
perhaps incorrectly assessed because AT&T’s knowledge and awareness of their needs are not
matched with their actual needs.
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INT. REQUEST 5=4 Provide racial and ethnic breakdown of AT&T customers nationwide,
Ohio and Cleveland, broken down by municipality or service area.
EXPLANATION
This complaint is based on recently published data by NDIA that suggests AT&T is purposefully
bypassing residents by ethnic and racial characteristics and in order to determine if there is
corroboration of fact in this data, Complainants would require access to this data that AT&T
presumably has in its possession.
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INT. REQUEST 5Provide marketing budget directed toward African American, Hispanic,
Asian and other communities of color and low-income communities in Cleveland, the state of
Ohio, and nationally. Include aggregate marketing budget, in particular, the percentage of the
total budget targeting communities of color.
EXPLANATION
AT&T states that it serves the city and it creates marketing materials and advertising in the city
to promote services and offerings. Complainants require awareness of the amount of money
spent on marketing because that will assist it in determining if the company’s outreach spend and
effort is adequate given the Complaints concerns about non-ubiquitous adoption. If the problem
has to do with marketing, then making the marketing budget available will assist the
Complainants and the Commission better understand.
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INT. REQUEST 6. Provide total participation rates in AT&T’s Access program in Ohio,
Cleveland and nationally. Provide all demographic information, including income, race and
ethnicity, of participants.
EXPLANATION:
AT&T’s program is stated to serve underserved and unserved communities and therefore a
breakdown of the demographics of these communities is essential for ascertaining if it is meeting
its stated purpose. If Complainants could access this information, they would have a better
understanding of AT&T’s stated goals of servicing the city.
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INT. REQUES 7. Provide cost, service tiers, data limitations, costs per line, tethering and hot
spot policies for mobile broadband products offered in the state of Ohio and Cleveland.
EXPLANATION:
To the extent that some members of the Cleveland service area rely on mobile broadband access,
Complainants are eager to learn what AT&T’s costs, limits and policies are for providing this
alternative to Ohio and Cleveland residents that do not have access to terrestrial broadband.
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INT. REQUEST 8 Share data regarding the total number of consumer complaints in Cleveland,
OH, about the speed of broadband, the geographic location of those complaints, the resolution of
those complaints from January 2006 to Present.
EXPLANATION
AT&T is bound by its franchise agreements, its FCC public service obligations and customer
service provisions of both to monitor, intake and resolve customer complaints. Complainants
would benefit from learning what the process is generally, for AT&T. This information is most
likely in the custody of AT&T and providing it would aid the Commission in determining if
there are other similarly-situated residents who have put AT&T on notice of their concerns prior
to the filing of this Complaint.
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INT REQUEST 9 Please provide a listing of all higher income areas in the Cleveland
metropolitan area where broadband speeds of the following levels are offered, and AT&T’s
definition of income: 1.5 Mbps or less; 3 Mbps or less; 6 Mbps or less; 18 Mbps or less; 24
Mbps or less.
EXPLANATION:
The report that spawned and initiated Complainants to file their concerns with the Commission
did not identify with more specificity which areas by income have what level of broadband speed
access. AT&T is the custodian of this information and if it provides it on the record, the
Complainants and the Commission would get a more complete picture of the service
demographic by access.
INT REQUEST 10 Current plans to deploy fiber in Cleveland and in the state of Ohio.
EXPLANATION:
To the extent that AT&T has already indicated to the public and the Commission that it intended
to deploy fiber in Cleveland and the state of Ohio, it is essential to know whether it has
completed its build out or has plans to deploy further.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on this date I served a copy of Complainant’s Complaint, hand
delivery by courier to :

AT&T Corp
208 S. Akard Street,
Dallas, Texas 75202

Daryl Parks
Parks & Crump
240 North Magnolia, Drive
Tallahassee, Florida, 32301
(850) 222-3333
(850) 224-6679 (fax)
Counsel for Joanne Elkins, Hattie
Lanfair and Rochelle Lee

Dated: August 23, 2017
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DECLARATION OF EXPERT WITNESS
BRIAN E. WHITACRE
1.

My name is Dr. Brian Whitacre. I am a professor and extension economist in the

agricultural economics department at Oklahoma State University.
2.

I hold a Ph.D. in economics from Virginia Polytechnic Institute. For the last 11

years, my academic position has focused on what technology can mean for domestic economic
development. A heavy portion of my research (and outreach) is dedicated to the economic
impacts associated with broadband technology. Therefore, I am well-versed in the data and
software tools used to explore broadband provision across the United States. Attached is my
resume detailing my professional expertise.
3.

I have reviewed in detail and am familiar with the contents of the Connect Your

Communities and National Digital Inclusion Alliance report titled, AT&T’s Digital Redlining. In
my professional opinion, the report is accurate and has been conducted according to the

professional standards of my profession. As part of my work on this project, I was able to
replicate the report results using the publicly available datasets cited (FCC Form 477 from June
2016; Census poverty rates from the 2011-2015 ACS).
4.

The report demonstrates that AT&T has withheld fiber-enhanced broadband

improvements from most Cleveland neighborhoods with high poverty rates, relegating them to
Internet access services which are vastly inferior to the services enjoyed by their counterparts
nearby in the higher-income Cleveland suburbs.
Background
5.

In 2016, Connect Your Community and National Digital Inclusion Alliance

learned that residents of many Cleveland neighborhoods were being declared ineligible for
AT&T’s “Access” discount rate program, solely because they couldn’t get AT&T connections at
the 3 Mbps download speed which was then the program’s minimum requirement.
6.

AT&T Access offers discounted broadband service to low-income households,

and was adopted by AT&T as a voluntary condition as part of Federal Communication
Commission approval of its merger with DirecTV.
7.

In order to further explore the quality of service offerings by AT&T in Cleveland,

CYC and NDIA undertook an analysis of broadband infrastructure deployment in Cleveland
using census block level data submitted to the Federal Communications Commission by AT&T
via FCC Form 477.
Data Source and Study Goals
8.

The FCC’s Fixed Broadband Deployment Data is based on Form 477 reports

gathered every six months from all regulated Internet Service Providers. It’s released to the

public on the FCC website six months to a year later. Among other things, the Form 477
deployment data includes individual companies’ own accounts of the broadband technology
they’re using to deliver residential service in each Census block, and the “Maximum Advertised
Download Speed” (as well as Upload Speed) for each such technology in that block.
9.

In the case of AT&T, Form 477 block data shows where the company is offering

18, 24, 45 or 75 mbps download speeds via fiber-enhanced VDSL service, or even gigabit speeds
via Fiber To The Home (FTTH), and where their Internet service is limited to slower speeds
(often much slower) because it’s still delivered over copper wires from a “central office” that
may be miles away, using a version of old-style ADSL technology called ADSL2.
10.

Census block data in Form 477 lists the maximum speed of as few as one or two

addresses in a block. Therefore if a Census block is listed as ADSL2 “Maximum Advertised
Download Speed” of 18 mbps, it is impossible to assume that every household in that block can
get that speed.
11.

On March 3, the FCC posted its latest round of Census block broadband

deployment data, drawn from providers’ Form 477 reports for June 2016. The CYC/NDIA
analysis is based on that most recent release.
12.

CYC and NDIA undertook this analysis to learn what the new Form 477 Census

block data tell us about three questions: 1) Where has AT&T invested in providing its
mainstream Internet speeds and video services to residents, and where has it chosen not to do so?
2) How does AT&T’s deployment of FTTH/VDSL service compare to the distribution of high
poverty areas, especially in Cleveland? 3) Where are AT&T’s “maximum advertised download
speeds” still provided by ADSL2 technology – i.e. old-style copper wire from a “central office”

– and what are those speeds, especially in the Census blocks farther away from the central
offices serving them?
13.

To address the first two questions, CYC and NDIA mapped all the Census blocks

in Cuyahoga County where AT&T’s Form 477 data indicates it was able to provide Internet
access via VDSL technology to at least one household, at a maximum download speed of 18
mbps or more, in June 2016. (CYC and NDIA included a couple of blocks where the data show
FTTH service with 1 Gbps download speeds.) Then CYC and NDIA overlaid a map of all the
Census block groups in the county where 35% of residents had incomes below the poverty line
according to the most recent Census data available (from 2011-2015).
AT&T home broadband technologies
14.

In general, AT&T offers home Internet, “cable” TV programming and IP phone

services using one of three delivery technologies: Fiber To The Home, Fiber To The Node /
VDSL, and ADSL2.
15.

The newest and fastest of the three, not yet available in most of the Cleveland

market but coming on rapidly in other metros, is Fiber To The Home (FTTH) – now branded as
“AT&T Fiber”. As the name suggests, this is very fast service (typically up to 1,000 mbps, i.e. 1
gbps) delivered by optical fiber all the way to the customer premises.
16.

The current mainstream AT&T home network technology, built out in Ohio and

other markets between 2007 and 2014, is Fiber To The Node (FTTN). Data travels via fiber to a
“Video Ready Access Device” (VRAD) in a wiring cabinet in a neighborhood, often on a tree
lawn or similar location, and then from the VRAD to the customer premises via a copper loop.
AT&T’s FTTN system uses an advanced digital subscriber line technology called “Very-highbit-rate digital subscriber line” or VDSL. VDSL technology can transmit data downstream and

upstream simultaneously, at speeds of 100 mbps or more. AT&T’s Form 477 data lists
“maximum advertised download speeds” for VDSL service of 18, 24, 45, and 75 mbps.
17.

Where AT&T hasn’t upgraded its service to either FTTH or FTTN, new accounts

are served using an older technology called “asymmetric digital subscriber line 2” (ADSL2 or
ADSL2+). Data travels to an AT&T “central office” via fiber optics, is run through a “Digital
Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer” (DSLAM) there, and then is sent over a copper loop to the
customer premises – often a distance of two to three miles or more. The ADSL2 technology used
by AT&T has a maximum download speed of 18 to 24 mbps near the DSLAM, but drops rapidly
to 6 mbps, 3 mbps or less at distances above a mile.
18.

I and the study authors understand, and believe to be true, that AT&T categorizes

its “advertised speeds” as follows. AT&T’s three lowest advertised speed tiers — and price
levels — are now “up to 3 mbps”, “up to 6 mbps”, and “up to 24 mbps.” A service whose
maximum speed is 768 kbps is considered “up to 3 mbps” under AT&T’s rubric. If a customer’s
available download speed is really 12 mbps, under AT&T’s rubric, that service is considered “up
to 24 mbps” on that customer’s bill.
Consumer Use of Broadband and Benefits of Broadband Competition
19.

Consumers view ADSL and VDSL2 as services which meet the same needs.

Both are broadband services used to reach the Internet, stream video, and other similar needs.
Both offerings also compete with other providers of broadband services, such as wired services
offered by multichannel video programming distributor, i.e., traditional cable operators.
20.

Wireless broadband services, while they provide some similar access to

broadband services, are qualitatively different from wired services. Indeed, the FCC’s own 2016
Broadband Progress Report notes, “We find today that fixed and mobile broadband are often

used in conjunction with one another and, as such, are not functional substitutes.” (p. 6) The
report also finds that, “fixed and mobile broadband are currently tailored to serve different
consumer needs.” (p. 6) Wireless services are typically subject to data caps or limitations after a
particular data threshold is met, and typically must be purchased for each device used, rather
than shared like wired services. They also suffer noticeable reductions in speed and quality if
multiple devices share the same data stream, such as through a mobile wifi hotspot. Therefore,
mobile services are often much more expensive and slower than wired services and do not offer
as great a value, particularly for low-income consumers.
21.

The lack of competitive fiber-based products reduces competition in the provision

of broadband services. Therefore, communities and individual customers who are limited to
fixed broadband service offerings from only a single provider generally face higher prices and
lower quality than they would if more than one provider of services were available. The
problematic nature of limited broadband competition is firmly established in the economic
literature.
Analysis
22.

The resulting study, AT&T’s Digital Redlining, its analysis, methodology, maps

and conclusions, is attached and incorporated to this declaration by reference.
23.

As detailed below, the study offers clear evidence that AT&T has withheld the

standard product offering for most suburbs- its fiber-enhanced “Fiber To the Node” VDSL
infrastructure (“FTTN”)– from the overwhelming majority of census blocks with individual
poverty rates above 35%. As a consequence, residents of these neighborhoods: suffer uneven,
often severely limited Internet access , in many cases 3 mbps downstream or less, and also lack

access to AT&T’s competitive fiber-enabled video service and the benefits such competition and
service would bring.
Maps, Data Analysis, and Findings
24.

To support these conclusions the report analyzed data and produced a series of

maps demonstrating the following:
25.

Map 1: Cuyahoga County Census blocks with AT&T VDSL or FTTH at

maximum advertised download speeds of 18 mbps or more, June 2016 | Block groups with 35%
or greater poverty. Map 1 is available in the report on page 3 and online
at https://digitalinclusion.carto.com/viz/ed6fbbba-0052-11e7-997a-0e3ebc282e83/public_map.
AT&T’s FTTN network covers most of Cuyahoga County but not most Census blocks in
Cleveland, especially those in high-poverty neighborhoods.
26.

Map 2: Cleveland Census blocks with AT&T VDSL or FTTH at maximum

advertised download speeds of 18 mbps or more, June 2016 | Block groups with 35% or greater
poverty | City of Cleveland VRAD Permits. Map 2 is available in the report on page 3 and online
at https://digitalinclusion.carto.com/viz/0a770a2e-00e4-11e7-bf2d-0e3ebc282e83/public_map.
AT&T’s FTTN network buildout in the city of Cleveland was concentrated in middle-income
neighborhoods, as evidenced not just by FCC data but also by City permits issued for VRAD
cabinets. The buildout bypassed the entire northeast side and most of the near West Side.
27.

Most of Cuyahoga County’s suburban communities are fully covered by AT&T’s

mainstream FTTH/VDSL service. Most of the city of Cleveland is not.
28.

Not counting vacant industrial blocks and Hopkins airport, the new Form 477 data

lists 13,457 Census blocks in Cuyahoga County served by AT&T with ADSL2, VDSL, or FTTH
service. Of the 5,567 blocks located in the city of Cleveland, in only 34% (1,904) is the

Maximum Advertised Download Speeds provided by VDSL or FTTH. Of the 7,890 blocks in
the rest of the county, the FTTH/VDSL percentage is 61%.
29.

Within the city, the Census blocks served by AT&T’s FTTN/VDSL infrastructure

— those where neighborhood fiber and VRAD cabinets have been deployed — are concentrated
in relatively middle-income neighborhoods in the far Southwest and Southeast sides, Old
Brooklyn, the outermost blocks of North Collinwood, Shaker Square, etc. Except for that sliver
of North Collinwood, there’s not a single VRAD location in the entire northeast quadrant of the
city — in Central, Fairfax, Hough, Glenville, St. Clair-Superior, or South Collinwood. No
FTTN infrastructure has been installed in Buckeye-Woodland, Union-Miles, Detroit-Shoreway,
Ohio City, Stockyards or Clark-Fulton.
30.

There is a glaring correlation between areas where AT&T has not invested in

FTTN service and areas of high poverty.
31.

Map 3: Cleveland Census blocks with AT&T VDSL or FTTH at maximum

advertised download speeds of 18 mbps or more, June 2016 | Block groups with 35% or greater
poverty | AT&T Central Office. Map 3 is available in the report on page 3 and online at
https://digitalinclusion.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/att-cleveland-central-offices.png.
AT&T apparently chose not to install FTTN infrastructure anywhere in the areas served by its
four Cleveland central offices with the greatest concentration of high-poverty neighborhoods.
32.

The absence of FTTN in these lower-income neighborhoods, and the overall

disparity in FTTN deployment between Cleveland and the suburbs, can be traced largely to
AT&T’s failure to deploy FTTN anywhere in the service areas of four “central offices” (COs, or
wire centers) with large lower-income customer bases: those at 6513 Guthrie, 5400 Prospect,

2130 East 107th, and 12223 St. Clair. FTTN deployment is also very limited in the service area
of the CO at 7225 Broadway, which serves another high-poverty neighborhood.
33.

Because AT&T hasn’t chosen to invest in FTTN infrastructure in these central

office service areas, their neighborhoods must depend for AT&T Internet access on ADSL2
technology — data transmitted from the central office via copper wires.
34.

Map 4: Cuyahoga County Census blocks with maximum advertised AT&T fixed

Internet download speeds provided by ADSL2, June 2016. Map 4 is available in the report on
page 4 and online at https://digitalinclusion.carto.com/viz/04a3edea-00f5-11e7-8fde0ee66e2c9693/public_map. Where AT&T has not deployed FTTN technology, home Internet
speeds delivered by the ADSL2 network vary widely depending on proximity to a central office.
Maximum download speeds of 3 Mbps or less are common.
35.

Map 5: Cleveland Census blocks with maximum AT&T fixed Internet download

speeds of 6 mbps or less, any technology, June 2016. Map 5 is available in the report on page 4
and online at https://digitalinclusion.carto.com/viz/b8570d4a-011d-11e7-9c8e0ee66e2c9693/public_map. Map 5 shows the Cleveland Census blocks with maximum AT&T
wireline Internet speeds of 6 Mbps or less, June 2016. As this map demonstrates, over 22% of
Cleveland Census blocks were reported by AT&T to have maximum residential download
speeds of 3 Mbps or less. 55% had maximum download speeds no greater than 6 Mbps. The
comparable percentages for the rest of Cuyahoga County were 12% and 24%, respectively.
Conclusions
36.

The analysis shows a clear and troubling pattern: A pattern of long-term,

systematic failure to invest in the infrastructure required to provide equitable, mainstream
Internet access to residents of the central city (compared to the suburbs) and to lower-income

city neighborhoods. Specifically, AT&T has chosen not to extend its “FTTN” VDSL
infrastructure – which is now the standard for most Cuyahoga County suburbs and other urban
AT&T markets throughout the U.S. – to the majority of Cleveland Census blocks, including the
overwhelming majority of blocks with individual poverty rates above 35%.
37.

The study’s results provide clear evidence that AT&T has withheld fiber-

enhanced broadband improvements from most Cleveland neighborhoods with high poverty rates
– including Hough, Glenville, Central, Fairfax, South Collinwood, St. Clair-Superior, DetroitShoreway, Stockyards and others.
38.

The Cleveland neighborhoods that did not receive VDSL investments have been

relegated to an older, slower transmission technology called ADSL2, resulting in significantly
slower Internet access speeds than AT&T provides to middle-income city neighborhoods as well
as most suburbs.
39.

As a result, their residents are left with: 1) uneven, often severely limited Internet

access – in many cases 3 Mbps downstream or less; and 2) no access to the competitive fiberenabled video service that AT&T promised communities in exchange for “cable franchise
reform”, i.e. the elimination of municipal cable franchising, in Ohio in 2007.
40.

Because the patterns revealed by this analysis result from a decade of deliberate

infrastructure investment decisions, I agree with NDIA and CYC’s conclusion that they
constitute strong evidence of a policy and practice of “digital redlining” by AT&T — i.e.
income-based discrimination against residents of lower-income urban neighborhoods in the types
of broadband service AT&T offers, and in the company’s investment in improved service.
41.

This Declaration has been prepared in support of the foregoing Formal Compliant.

42.

This statement is true to my personal knowledge, and is made under penalty of

perjury of the laws of the United States of America.
43.

I certify that I was able to replicate the NDIA report findings using the publicly

available data referenced in the report.
44.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

45.

Executed on August 21, 2017.
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